2001

# Basin Flying Service v. Public Service Commission, Dinaland Aviation Incorporated, Flaming Gorge Flying Service : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### FACTS

On or about October 18, 1973, Dinaland Aviation Incorporated (herein referred to as "Dinaland") filed its Application for a Certificate of Convenience and Necessity with the Public Service Commission (hereinafter referred to as the "Commission") in Case No. 6943, to operate as an aircraft carrier of passengers and property in intrastate commerce, and in the additional information supplied with that Application asked in the form of allegation and prayer:

“(3) That, in the alternative, Applicant claims that the charter service proposed by the Applicant is not subject to regulation by the Public Service Commission of Utah and that said Commission should so find.”

Prior to such filing the Commission had caused to be served on John A. Gardiner as President of Dinaland, and on Dinaland, a corporation, an Order to Show Cause in the Matter of the Investigation of Dinaland Aviation Incorporated and Flaming Gorge Flying Service for Performing Common Carrier Service by Aircraft Without Authority From This Commission (Investigation Docket No. 151).

By Order of the Commission dated November 6, 1973, the above entitled matters were consolidated on the same record, and a Hearing on the matters was held Thursday, December 13, 1973, in the Uintah County Building, Vernal, Utah. Basin Flying Service (herein referred to as “Basin”) made its appearance at such Hearing as a Protestant to Dinaland’s Application. At that time, the matter of the Application of Dinaland for a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity in Case No. 6943 was continued without date.

A memorandum attacking the jurisdiction of the Public Service Commission over non-scheduled airlines was served on Basin on the date of the hearing; Basin replied on January 9, 1974.

By an Order dated April 25, 1974, and in spite of the amendment to the Public Utilities Act, Section

54-1-1, *et seq.*, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, (which amendment was, in part, initiated by the Commission), the Commission took the position that it did not have jurisdiction over fixed-based operators such as Dinaland, and, therefore, left the matter to be resolved by the “. . . Utah Supreme Court for a final determination of this issue.” (Page 5, Order of April 25, 1974)

A Petition for Rehearing was filed on May 15, 1974 by Basin; said Petition was denied by an Order of the Commission dated May 30, 1974.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT 1

**DINALAND IS A COMMON CARRIER AND IS SUBJECT, THEREFORE, TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION.**

The central issue in this matter is whether the Public Service Commission of Utah has the authority to compel a non-scheduled charter aircraft carrier to obtain a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity to operate in intrastate traffic within the State of Utah.

Section 54-2-1 (29), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, defines “aircraft carrier” as including:

“. . . *every corporation and person . . . operating for public service for hire engaged in intrastate transportation of persons or property; except those air carriers operating with a certificate of*

convenience and necessity issued by the federal government.” (emphasis added)

The fact that “aircraft carrier” is not included, by its statutory definition, in the term “common carrier” (as that term is defined in Section 54-2-1(14), Utah Code Annotated, 1953) does not exclude from it the effect of that statute.

No inconsistency exists between this construction and the statutory mandate of Section 54-4-25 (1) which provides that:

“No . . . aircraft carrier (corporation) . . . shall henceforth establish, or begin construction or operation of a . . . line, route, plant or system or of any extension of such . . . line, route, plant or system, without having first obtained from the commission a certificate that present or future public convenience and necessity does or will require such construction; . . .”

The statute clearly expresses the legislative intent; that is to regulate “aircraft carriers” in the interest of public safety; advance the growth and welfare of the public in this area of activity yet protect the interests of present Certificate holders so far as can be done without injury to the public, either to its present welfare or hindering its future growth, development and advancement. See *Utah Light & Traction Co. v. Public Service Commission, et al*, 101 Utah 99, 118 P.2d 683, 690 (1941).

Applicant Dinaland would have the Commission believe that it is ousted of jurisdiction to regulate and control activity such as it has performed or proposes to



perform in intrastate traffic because it conducts a "non-schedule" air carrier operation. In describing Dinaland's service, Mr. Gardiner soared to spectacular heights of caprice and whimsy; that revealing bit of dialogue between Mr. Gardiner and Dinaland's counsel appears on pages 15 and 16 of the transcript:

Q. Sir, do you hold yourself out to the public to provide a transportation service for any person who chooses to employ Dinaland Aviation, Inc.?

A. Not necessarily. We feel that we have the right to turn down anyone at any time for various reasons. One would be because of weather. One would be because we might be having some maintenance done on a particular airplane, and if someone happens to call that we are not in good standing with, that want to go somewhere, we reserve the right to turn them down at any time.

Q. So if somebody called you to provide a charter flight for him and you didn't like that individual for any reason whatsoever, such as the color of his eyes, in your judgment, could you turn him down?

A. Yes.

Q. And would you do so?

A. Yes.

On more sober reflection, Mr. Gardiner's arbitrariness was tempered somewhat in a subsequent dialogue, as follows:

Q. Mr. Gardner [sic], when you stated that you could turn anybody down for any reason, would that statement be qualified by any Federal or State Law, as it pertains to civil rights or due to race, color, creed, et cetera?

A. I think the Civil Rights Act, and as long as there is any Federal money appropriated for an airport, you cannot discriminate against any persons, regardless of race, color, or creed.

Q. So when you said that, it would not be your intent to discriminate against people?

A. The biggest share of the time, we turn down flights is because of bad weather, instrument conditions. We have to reserve that right because we are not certified yet for instrument flying, the carrying of passengers and cargo. (Tr. p. 17)

The “et cetera” in the question and Mr. Gardiner’s response (involving race, color and creed) disposed, at least momentarily, of the ticklish problem of eye color.

Yet, Dinaland persists in attributing ultra special meanings to flight terms such as “non-scheduled,” “irregular routes” and “irregular times.” On one hand the operation is unscheduled and irregular—to the point of appearing, downright haphazard; the operator would give precedence to a wife’s shopping trip over a call for a business flight (Tr. p. 18). But then, in describing the type of service Dinaland holds itself out

to perform, Mr. Gardiner details a 60 by 80 foot metal hanger, heated, with office facility, pilots' lounge and a fuel service; student instruction; charter air taxi service (Tr. p. 15). He expansively notes that it holds a license from the State Aeronautics Division, State of Utah, and a "Federal FAA license which covers us for the carrying of passengers, cargo freight, to any point in the Continental United States, Canada, and Mexico. That is single and multi-engine." (Tr. p. 16)

In describing its operation Dinaland is depicting precisely the type of activity the legislature felt should be controlled and regulated by the Commission; Dinaland put itself squarely within the meaning of "common carrier" in spite of what it maintains is the exclusionary effect of "scheduled" as that word is used in Section 54-2-1 (14), Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

A "common carrier" has been defined as one who holds himself out to the public as engaged in the business of transporting persons or property from place to place, for compensation, offering its services to the public generally. *Travis v. Dickey*, 96 Okla. 250, 222 P. 527 (1924) citing R.C.L.; *United States v. Ramsey*, 197 F. 144 (8th Cir. 1912), 42 L.R.A. (N.S.) 1031. We submit that the admission by Dinaland that there could be no discrimination, in terms of service, for reasons of "race, color, or creed" opens the service (notwithstanding color of eyes and a spouse's shopping trip) "to the public generally." Dinaland consistently describes the service it provides as being "on call" (Tr. p. 15). The Courts have held that a common carrier

by air need not have a regular schedule of flights (*Alaska Air Transport Inc. v. Alaska Airplane Charter Co.*, 72 F. Supp. 609 D. C. Alaska, 1947); or a fixed route (*Cushing v. White*, 101 Wash. 172, 172 P. 229, 1918); or a relatively unlimited carrying capacity. A carrier may limit its operations solely to charter flights and still be a common carrier (*Alaska Air Transport Inc., v. Alaska Airplane Charter Co.*, *supra*).

It is not the self serving label adopted by Dinaland that is determinative; it is not what Dinaland declares itself to be but rather what the circumstances show it to be. The crucial test as to "whether one is a common carrier is whether he holds himself out as such, expressly or by a course of conduct, that he will carry for hire on a uniform tariff all persons applying . . . so long as he has room" Fixel: *Aviation*, 3rd Ed. (1948) Sec. 372, p. 261.

Dinaland has by its activities and description of its operations held itself out to be a common carrier. As such it must be so treated for the safety and welfare of the community; it must be subject to the regulatory control of this Commission as that control was authorized and directed by the legislature.

This Court has repeatedly emphasized the underlying policy of public utility regulation. One of the most recent reassertions of this policy was expressed in *Cottonwood Mall Shop. Ctr., Inc. v. Utah Power and Light Co.*, 440 F.2d 36, 40 (10th Cir. 1971), *cert. denied*, 404 U.S. 857, 30 L.Ed.2d 99, 92 S.Ct. 107, wherein the Court stated:

“The analysis begins with the long-ago, but still pertinent, declaration of the Utah Supreme Court on the underlying policy of public utility regulation. In *Gilmer v. Public Utilities Commission*, 1926, 67 Utah 222, 247 P. 284, that Court pointed out that though competition was usually a desirable goal, the states had found the case to be otherwise in the public utility field. The states felt it more suitable to put these activities under closely controlled, state granted monopolies. This means that in construing these statutes—which of course expressly cover the physical operational activities of Cottonwood—we must give a liberal reading to provisions subjecting the activity to regulation while simultaneously giving a more narrow scope to the exceptions.” (emphasis added)

Basin submits that the statute cloaks the Commission with the requisite authority to regulate aircraft carriers—whether scheduled or non-scheduled—as long as such carrier is operating for public service, for hire and is engaged in intrastate transportation of persons or property. Considerations of public policy and welfare tip the scales in favor of regulation and against the exceptions claimed by Dinaland. To do otherwise would defeat the legislative purpose of the 1969 amendments to Sections 54-2-1 and 54-4-25, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

## POINT II

DINALAND IS AN AIRCRAFT CARRIER  
WITHIN THE CONTEMPLATION OF SEC-

**TION 54-2-1 (29) AND IS SUBJECT TO REGULATION BY THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION.**

Dinaland has taken the position that it is not a common carrier as that term is defined in Section 54-2-1 (14), Utah Code Annotated, 1953. This is based on the inclusion of the word "scheduled" prior to the words "aircraft carrier" in the definition of "common carrier." The word "scheduled" however, is not found in the regulatory part of the statute, Section 54-4-25 (1), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which provides:

**"54-4-25. CERTIFICATE OF CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY PREREQUISITE TO CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION—CERTIFICATES ISSUED TO ELECTRICAL CORPORATIONS BROUGHT UNDER ACT—AIR CARRIERS.—(1) No railroad corporation, street railroad corporation, aerial bucket tramway corporation, gas corporation, electrical corporation, telephone corporation, telegraph corporation, heat corporation, automobile corporation, *aircraft carrier* (corporation), . . . shall henceforth establish, or begin construction or operation of a railroad, street railroad, aerial bucket tramway, line, route, plant or system or of any extension of such railroad, street railroad, aerial bucket tramway, , , , without having first obtained from the commission a certificate . . ."** (emphasis added)

Dinaland would have us ignore the plain meaning of the above Section and insert "scheduled" before "aircraft carrier" in order ". . . to bring Section 54-4-25

(1) . . . into conformity with the entire statutory scheme.” (Page 5 of Reply of Dinaland to the Memorandum of Basin, February 13, 1974) On the contrary, “scheduled” should be *removed* from the definition set forth in Section 54-2-1 (14) in order to correct the statutory scheme.

If we were to assume that Dinaland would not qualify as a common carrier under Utah law, (although we do not so admit), the effect of Section 54-2-1 (14) Utah Code Annotated, 1953, is inescapable; it does not require that one be a common carrier in order to come under the jurisdiction of the Public Service Commission. As Section 54-2-1 (29), Utah Code Annotated provides:

“(29) The term ‘aircraft carrier’ includes every corporation and person, and lessee, trustee and receivers or trustees appointed by any court whatsoever, *operating for public service for hire engaged in intrastate transportation of persons or property*; except those air carriers operating with a certificate of convenience and necessity issued by the federal government.” (emphasis added)

Dinaland is clearly an “aircraft carrier” in the public service. While it is true one cannot be a “common carrier” by definition without being in the public service, the converse is not true; an individual or corporation can be in the public service without meeting all of the requirements or possessing the characteristics of a common carrier; and one who is an “aircraft carrier”

is subject to the jurisdiction of the Public Service Commission.

Dinaland would remove jurisdiction from the Public Service Commission merely because one of the four statutory references to the term "aircraft carrier" included the modifier, "scheduled." [Section 54-2-1 (14)] None of the remaining three [Sections 54-2-1 (29), 54-4-25 (1) and 54-4-25 (6)] includes this term which seemingly was added as an afterthought in longhand by an unknown party.

The House Journal of 1969 provides little illumination on the history of H.B. 244, the Bill which amended the statutes in question. There is, however, a most accurate appraisal of what the legislators intended this legislation to accomplish as expressed in the formal name of H.B. 244 which reads:

**"AN ACT AMENDING SECTION 54-2-1, U.C.A., 1933, AS AMENDED BY CHAPTER 106, LAWS OF UTAH 1957, AND CHAPTER 94, LAWS OF UTAH 1959, AND CHAPTER 106, LAWS OF UTAH 1965, AND 54-4-25, U.C.A. 1953, AS AMENDED BY CHAPTER 106, LAWS OF UTAH 1957, AND CHAPTER 106, LAWS OF UTAH 1965, RELATING TO THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION; PROVIDING FOR DEFINING AIRCRAFT CARRIERS AS PUBLIC UTILITIES AND BRINGING AIRCRAFT OPERATED FOR HIRE UNDER THE JURISDICTION AND REGULATION OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMIS-**



SION; REQUIRING THAT AIRCRAFT CARRIERS OBTAIN A CERTIFICATE OF CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY BEFORE BEGINNING NEW OR ADDITIONAL SERVICES; AND ALLOWING AIRCRAFT CARRIERS TO CONTINUE PRESENT SERVICES UNDER CERTAIN CONDITIONS." p. 380, HOUSE JOURNAL 1969

Nowhere does the word "scheduled" appear in the title.

The courts are quite uniform in holding that the title of an act is to be considered in construing it. *Cline v. Knight* 111 Colo. 8, 137 P.2d 680, 146 A.L.R. 1281 (1943). The rule is well established that, in the case of ambiguity, the title may be resorted to as an aid to the ascertainment of the legislative intent. 82 C.J.S. Sec. 350, p. 731, and cases cited.

It is Basin's position that the legislators had a firm comprehension of the type and nature of the service to be regulated, i.e., precisely the service defined in the title. To consider the effect and purpose of the Act in any other light would be to ask this court to indulge in judicial legislation, and with nothing more than the appearance of one word in one statutory section as a guide, edit the entire balance of the statute to buttress the Commission's position in abdicating jurisdiction.

Basin is not alone in this State; it is one of many flight operations which is non-scheduled and which has submitted to and remained subject to the regulation and control of the Commission in compliance with the

provisions of the above cited statutes. In return for submission to such regulatory authority, including stringent safety standards and financial support to the commission in the form of tariffs and taxes, Basin and its fellow flying services enjoy the privilege of operating without the threat of cut-throat competitors. Now, the Commission would abdicate its regulatory power, thus divesting Basin and other operators of the protection and regulation they have accepted and functioned under since the effective date of said statute. It takes no imagination to picture the loss to the public; for who would be willing to make a substantial financial investment in a remote operation such as Blanding, Utah, unless he can be certain that his investment will be protected from barnstorming competition. Not only will the public be denied flying services in the outlying areas, but in those areas where services do exist, there will be no guarantee of the high safety standards heretofore imposed by the Public Service Commission. Here is laissez fiare with all of the dangers, inequities and waste that could result from Commission non-interference and indifference.

In its Reply Memorandum of February 13, 1974, Dinaland quoted from *Williams v. Public Service Commission*, 21 U.2d 155 (1968), wherein Justice Henriod properly stated that no legislative basis existed for the problem then before the Court. The Court pointed out that:

“The Legislature shortly will meet. That is the foundation of administrative authority, and we leave it to that body under our tripartite system

to clarify any obfuscation that seems to exist in the minds of some interested parties. With a few words, the Legislature, with appropriate implementing language, surely could make freight cars and boats, highways and waterways analogous if it intends such a conclusion." 21 U.2d 157

The case at bar is different; the legislature has already met with the specific purpose of placing fixed-based operators under the jurisdiction of the Commission, and the amendments of 1969 clearly place Dinahland, Basin and others like them under the regulation of the Public Service Commission.

For the reasons set forth above, Basin respectfully requests the Court to reverse the April 25, 1974 Order of the Commission.

Respectfully submitted,

Hugh C. Garner and  
Alan A. Enke of  
RAY, QUINNEY & NEBEKER  
400 Deseret Building  
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111  
Telephone: 532-1500

Attorneys for  
BASIN FLYING SERVICE  
Protestant-Appellant