2001

Basin Flying Service v. Public Service Commission, Dinaland Aviation Incorporated, Flaming Gorge Flying Service : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

THE COMMISSION PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT IT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO REGULATE THE AIR CHARTER SERVICES PERFORMED BY DINALAND.

POINT I

DINALAND IS NOT A COMMON

CARRIER AS THE TERM IS STATUTORILY DEFINED.

Appellant's initial contention under Point I of its brief that Dinaland is a "common carrier" is rebutted by reference to Section 54-2-1 (14) Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended). This section, as amended by the Utah State Legislature in 1969, defines "common carrier" as pertinent herein as:

“***Every railroad corporation; street railroad corporations; automobile corporations; *scheduled aircraft carrier (corporation)*; aerial bucket tramway corporation; express corporation; dispatch sleeping, dining, drawing room, freight, refrigerator, oil, stock and fruit car corporations***” (Emphasis added).

In *Application of Central Airlines, Inc.*, 185 P. 2d 919 (Okla., 1947), the jurisdiction of the Oklahoma Corporation Commission to regulate air transportation was challenged. The Commission contended that the wording, “***The term ‘transportation company’ shall include ***”, did not deprive it of jurisdiction over businesses not expressly specified, but enlarged the definition of the term “transportation company” to include all business dealing with transportation. The court held that the term “transportation company” was general and the categories following the words “shall include” were qualifying and definitive. Because the subsequent categories did not specify air transportation, it was held

that the "Commission did not have authority to regulate the same."

This same reasoning applies in determining the scope of the general classification "common carrier" as qualified by the use of the phrase "scheduled aircraft carrier (corporation)". The definitive use of the term "scheduled aircraft carrier (corporation)" necessarily *excludes* a nonscheduled air carrier from the definition.

A consistent allegation by appellant is that Dinaland "****persists in attributing ultra special meanings to flight terms such as 'nonscheduled', 'irregular routes' and 'irregular times'." (Brief of Appellant, page 6). These observations merely illustrate appellant's failure to comprehend the distinction between the scheduled airline industry and the nonscheduled charter air service industry. By its very nature, a scheduled aircraft carrier operates on the basis of established routes, scheduled times, uniform tariffs and the duty to carry any and all for whom it has room. As previously noted, a nonscheduled aircraft carrier operates a charter service without established routes, fixed time schedules or published tariffs and may refuse a requested service for any legal reason.

Terms such as "nonscheduled", "irregular routes", and "irregular times" are not merely "flight terms" but terms that have a particular meaning in the aviation industry. This was recognized by the Legislature of the State of Utah when the hand written interlineation of the word "scheduled" was added to the amendment to

Section 54-2-1 (14) Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended) prior to its adoption.

It is this distinction between a scheduled and non-scheduled aircraft carrier that justifies Section 54-1-9 Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended), wherein the Commission, its officers and employees, when in the performance of their official duties have the right to travel free of charge on every common carrier. The Commission's boarding of a scheduled flight is certainly distinguishable from a demand directed to a nonscheduled air charter service to fly the Commission, its officers and employees, to and from any point within the State of Utah, free of charge.

Appellant attempts to expand the clear and unambiguous statutory definition of "common carrier" and relies on cases such as *Alaska Air Transport, Inc. vs. Alaska Airplane Charter Co.*, 72 F. Supp. 609 (Alaska, 1947) *Cushing et al. vs. White* 101 Wash., 172, 172 P. 229 (1918) and *Travis vs. Dickey*, 96 Oklahoma 250, 222 P. 527 (1924). In each case, the court dealt with a regulatory scheme that did *not* statutorily define a common carrier thereby imposing on the court the obligation to render a judicial interpretation. The Legislature of the State of Utah has removed this burden from this court by setting forth a clear legislative definition of the term "common carrier" and reliance on judicial interpretations is completely misplaced.

Dinaland will not belabor this brief with a duplication of the observations and arguments set forth in the

brief of Flaming Gorge, but will merely reiterate the fact that the word "scheduled" was not in the original draft of the 1969 legislative amendment but was added by hand written interlineation prior to the adoption of the amendment. The Commission properly recognized the clear import of this legislative history by stating:

"We are of the opinion, however, that the Legislature must have meant something by its longhand, last minute, addition of the word 'scheduled' in section 54-2-1 (14). A change of language of a bill during the course of its adoption indicates an intention to enact a provision different in effect than that called for by the original language, particularly where there are inconsistencies by amendments of bills during the course of their consideration (citing authority)". (R. 109).

POINT II

DINALAND IS NOT STATUTORILY REQUIRED TO OBTAIN A CERTIFI- CATE OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY FROM THE COM- MISSION PRIOR TO THE RENDI- TION OF INTRASTATE AIR CHAR- TER SERVICES.

Section 54-4-1 Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended), concerning the jurisdiction of the Commission, provides that the Commission is vested with the power to supervise and regulate any "public utility"

within the state. Section 54-2-1 (30) Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended) provides in part:

“the term ‘public utility’ includes every *common carrier*, gas corporation, electrical corporation, telephone corporation, telegraph corporation, water corporation, sewage corporation, heat corporation***” (Emphasis added).

As previously noted, the term “common carrier” is definitely limited to “scheduled aircraft carrier (corporation),” 54-2-1 (14) Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended). The inescapable conclusion from this statutory scheme is that unscheduled aircraft carriers are not subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission because they are neither “common carriers” nor “public utilities”.

Appellant relies on Section 54-2-1 (29) Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended), which defines aircraft carriers to include every corporation and person, lessee and trustee, “***operating for *public service* for hire engaged in intrastate transportation of persons or property***”, and Section 54-4-25 (1) and (6) Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended), the pertinent portions of which provide:

(1) No railroad corporation, ***aircraft carrier (corporation) ***shall henceforth establish or begin construction or operation of a ***line, route, plant, or system without having first obtained from the Commission a certificate that present or future public con-

venience and necessity does or will require such construction; provided that this section shall not be construed to require any such corporation to secure such certificate for an extension within any city or town within which it shall have heretofore lawfully commenced operations, or for an extension in a territory, either within or without a city, or town, contiguous to its railroad,***not therefore served by a public utility of like character***that if any public utility in constructing or extending its line, plant or system shall interfere or be about to interfere with the operation of the line, plant or system of any other public utility already constructed, the Commission on complaint of the public utility claiming to be injuriously affected, may, after hearing, make such order and prescribe such terms and conditions for the location of the lines, plants, or systems affected as to it may seem just and reasonable.”

A contention that an intrastate air charter service that is neither a “common carrier” nor a “public utility” must obtain a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity predicated on these statutes is charged with several noticeable flaws in logic. First, the statute prohibits the establishment, construction, or operation of a, “***line, route, plant or system***”. An air charter service such as that rendered by Dinaland does not operate on established lines, routes, or systems but, rather, operates pursuant to the requests of a paying customer. For example, an air carrier may be said to establish a “route” when it flies a daily schedule at fixed

times under published tariffs of rates and charges, from Salt Lake City, Utah to Vernal, Utah. However, an air charter service may make five flights in one day from Salt Lake City to Vernal or it may never fly between those points, the destination being governed solely by the requirements of its customers. Therefore, an air charter service does not operate or establish lines, routes or systems within the meaning of 54-4-25 (1) Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended).

Secondly, said section consistently uses the term "public utility" throughout its content in referring to the corporations mentioned thereunder. Because an unscheduled air charter service is not a "public utility", the conclusion is inescapable that this section pertains only to those aircraft carriers operating as "common carriers" so as to be within the definition of "public utilities".

By defining a public utility to include common carriers and by limiting common carriers to only scheduled aircraft carriers, the 1969 legislative amendment recognized the principle set forth in *the State ex rel. Public Utilities Commission of Utah v. Nelson*, 65 Utah 457, 238 P. 237 (1925) wherein this Court stated at 65 Utah 462:

Public service, as distinguished from mere private service, is thus a necessary factor to constitute a common carrier. Such element, in portions of the act, is not as clearly expressed as might be. Nevertheless, it necessarily is implied. It is only by the presence of such factor

or element that the commission has power or authority to regulate or control such business. Eliminating it, its power and jurisdiction are gone. No one may successfully contend that it is competent for the Legislature to regulate and control in such respect a mere private business or to declare a private business to be a public service or a public utility. In other words, the state may not, by mere legislative fiat or edict or by regulating orders of a commission, convert mere private contracts or a mere private business into a public utility or make its owner a common carrier. (citing cases) So, if the business or concern is not public service, where the public has not a legal right to the use of it, where the business or operation is not open to an indefinite public, it is not subject to the jurisdiction or regulation of the commission.

An air charter or taxi service such as that performed by Dinaland is not open to an indefinite public as is the service rendered by a scheduled aircraft carrier. Air charter services are not obligated to provide a particular requested flight and may refuse to do for various reasons including adverse weather conditions and unavailability of particular equipment. The service is strictly private in nature.

A further illustration of the distinctions between a public and private service and a public utility as against a private industry is the statutory authority of the Commission to supervise and regulate rates and charges where the activities are within the definition of

a common carrier and/or public utility. For example, Section 54-3-2 *Utah Code Annotated* (1953), as amended), provides in part:

“Every common carrier shall file with the Commission, and shall print and keep open to the public inspection, schedules showing the rates, fares, charges, and classifications for the transportation***of persons and property. . . .”

This same basic requirement relating to public utilities other than common carriers is set forth in subsection (2) of said section. In addition, Section 54-3-3 *Utah Code Annotated* (1953, as amended) prohibits a public utility from changing or altering its published schedule without Commission approval and Section 54-3-6 *Utah Code Annotated* (1953, as amended), prohibits deviation by common carriers from their published schedules. A determination by this Court that the Commission could exercise jurisdiction over nonscheduled air charter carrier would create a situation whereby the Commission would have to approve a certificate of convenience and necessity but would not have authority to supervise and regulate schedules of rates, fares, charges and classifications. This was clearly not the purpose or intent of the statutory scheme relating to the Commission's authority.

POINT III

COMMISSION JURISDICTION MUST BE CREATED BY EXPRESS STATU-

TORY DELEGATION AND THE
SAME MAY NOT BE INFERRED OR
IMPLIED.

As stated in *Public Utilities Commission vs. Colorado Motor Way, Inc.*, 165 Colo. 1, 437 P.2d 44 (1968), at 437 P.2d 46:

“The Commission is a creature of statute. Both the power and scope of this authority and it’s procedures are necessarily controlled by the Act upon which it relies.”

Additionally, in *State ex rel. Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Okanogan County vs. Department of Public Service et al.*, 21 Wash, 2d 201, 150 P.2d 709 (1944), the Court stated at 150 P.2d 713:

“It is well settled in this state, as elsewhere, that a public service commission, such as the Department of Public Service in this state, is an administrative agency created by statute and as such has no inherent powers, but only such as have been expressly granted to it by the legislature or have, by implication, been conferred upon it as necessarily incident to the exercise of those powers expressly granted.”

See also 64 Am.Jur.2d Public Utilities, Section 232.

In South Mississippi Airways et al. vs. Chicago and Southern Airlines et al., 26 So 2d 455, 165 A.L.R. 906 (1946), three applications were filed by separate

airlines seeking certificates of public convenience and necessity for operation along certain designated intra-state routes. The Court determined that a motor driven airplane is a motor vehicle capable of operating as a common carrier. “***[a]s the term ‘common carrier’ is defined.” (26 So 2d 461). The Court further determined that the statutory regulation was limited to common carriers by land or water and did not include air carriers. In doing so, the Court observed at 26 So 2d 462:

“There is nothing in our statutes wherein regulation of airplanes as common carriers can be made to fit. Certainly, any public service commission to whom such regulations were committed would be required to follow rules dealing with landing fields, runways, control towers, beams, hangers, radio communications, clearances, types, sizes and capacities of airplanes, restrictions on safety of flights by ceilings, qualifications of pilots, and other matters pertaining particularly to airplane operations. These and many other essentials and incidents of aeronautical operations do not fit existing legislation regulating facilities and operation of common carriers by land and water even where motor driven. Only over such common carriers has jurisdiction been expressly committed to the Public Service Commission by the Legislature, the sole source of its powers.”

As previously noted, the Utah regulatory scheme does not include nonscheduled air charter carriers within

the definition of a common carrier. Even if this was the case, the statutes are completely devoid of any delegation of regulatory powers to the Commission relating to matters peculiar to the aircraft industry. The failure of the legislature to so provide is further evidence of a legislative intent to exclude nonscheduled air charter carriers from Commission regulation.

This is not to say that carriers such as Dinaland are completely free from regulation. Minimum requirements have been adopted by the Utah State Aeronautics Commission pursuant to the Utah Aeronautical Regulatory Act (Title No. 2, Chapter 4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended). The Board has adopted requirements that adequately provide for the welfare and safety of those utilizing nonscheduled air charter services and Dinaland has complied with these standards and has been granted the appropriate license.

The Commission's jurisdiction and authority to regulate and control the activities of nonscheduled air charter carriers such as Dinaland should be the result of a clear expression of a legislative intent. As stated by this court in *Williams vs. Public Service Commission*, 21 Utah 2nd 155, 442 P.2d 920 (1968) at 21 Utah 2nd 156:

“The Legislature shortly will meet. That is the foundation of administrative authority, and we leave it to that body under our tripartite system to clarify any obfuscation that seems to exist in the minds of some interested parties.

With a few words, the Legislature, with appropriate implementing language surely could make freight cars and boats, highways and waterways analagous if it intents such a conclusion.”

CONCLUSION

Dinaland respectfully submits that the Report and Order of the Commission under date of April 25, 1974, wherein the Commission concluded that the present statutory scheme did not confer in the Commission jurisdiction to supervise and regulate nonscheduled air charter and taxi services such as those performed by Dinaland, should be affirmed.